No. 32442-7-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JESSICA MAE GOODEILL, Petitioner,

VS.

MADISON REAL ESTATE, Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

BRIAN G CAMERON, WSBA #44905 Attorney for Petitioner

Cameron Sutherland, PLLC 421 W. Riverside Ave., Ste. 660 Spokane, WA 99201 TEL. (509) 415-4507

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Assignments of Error

- 1. The Superior Court erred in finding that the Respondent landlord could not obtain contractor invoices until October 1, 2013.
- 2. The Superior Court erred in concluding that "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" excused the Respondent landlord from its statutory obligations under RCW 59.18.280 *in toto*.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Is the Superior Court's finding that the Respondent landlord could not obtain contractor invoices until October 1, 2013, when all work was completed on or before September 11, 2013, supported by substantial evidence?
- 2. As a remedial statute, should a "Force Majeure" standard, rather than a "reasonableness" standard, apply to the remedial exception in RCW 59.18.280?
- 3. Should the remedial exception in RCW 59.18.280 be narrowly construed and applied in close conformity to the terms of the statute, rather than broadly construed and applied to excuse a landlord's statutory obligations *in toto*?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Jessica Goodeill commenced this action in Spokane County District Court as a Small Claim alleging that her landlord, Respondent Madison Real Estate ("Madison"), failed to provide her with a "full and specific statement" of the basis for retaining her deposit monies, along with the refund due to her, within 14 days of the termination of her tenancy as required by Washington's Residential Landlord Tenant Act ("RLTA"). RCW 59.18.280; CP at 2-3. Ms. Goodeill also alleged that Madison had charged erroneous and excessive amounts against her deposit. CP at 2-3, 12, 27.

Ms. Goodeill vacated premises leased from Madison on August 31, 2013, and returned keys to the unit on September 3, 2013. On September 16, 2013, Madison mailed Ms. Goodeill a "Deposit Refund Notice," which included various estimated costs, including pró-rated rent (\$75.00), utility overages (\$75.00), window cleaning (\$150.00), general house cleaning (\$350.00), lawn care (\$150.00), and maintenance/debris removal (\$100.00). Ex. B at 2. The notice claimed a total estimated amount of \$100.00 due to the Respondent after withholding Ms. Goodeill's full deposit of \$800.00, for a total amount of \$900.00 claimed due. Ex. B at 2.

Significantly, all work by Madison's contractors was completed on or before September 11, 2013, eight days after Ms. Goodeill handed over her keys and five days before Madison's first "estimate." Ex. B at 4-5, 10, 11-12, 13, 14. The remaining items were either imposed by Madison itself (e.g., additional rent, "admn" fees, prepayment credits, etc.) or were available at or before the time Ms. Goodeill vacated the premises (e.g., previous month's utility charges, etc.). Ex. B at 4-5. All of these charges nonetheless remained undisclosed or overestimated until more than five weeks later.

On October 9, 2014, Madison mailed Ms. Goodeill another statement, which included excessively pro-rated rent of \$120.00; \$140.75 for August utility charges; \$89.05 for window treatments; and \$170.35, almost \$530.00 *less* than its earlier "estimate," for general cleaning, lawn care, and maintenance/debris removal. Ex. B at 4-5. The statement also imposed previously undisclosed "Admn." fees of \$26.94. Ex. B at 4-5. Finally, Madison credited Ms. Goodeill's \$800.00 deposit and a previously unapplied \$45.00 credit to total charges of \$557.09, which resulted in a \$287.91 refund due to her. Ex. B at 4-5.

Ultimately, Madison's September 16, 2013, "estimate" of an additional \$100.00 due to itself was manifested more than three weeks

later, and more than five weeks after the termination of tenancy, as a \$287.91 refund due to Ms. Goodeill. Ex. B at 4-5.

At an October 30, 2013, Small Claims hearing, the Spokane County District Court entered judgment in favor of Ms. Goodeill, ruling that Madison's estimated statement and withholding dated September 16, 2013, did not comply with RCW 59.18.280, which requires landlords to provide a "full and specific statement" of the basis for retaining deposit monies, along with "any refund due," within 14 days of the termination of tenancy. RCW 59.18.280 (emphases added). In so ruling, the District Court was not persuaded by Madison's claim that "there's no way" it could have satisfied its affirmative duties under RCW 59.18.280. CP at 31.

Madison appealed the District Court's decision to the Spokane County Superior Court, arguing that a lack of invoices from one of its chosen contractors constituted "circumstances beyond its control" under RCW 59.18.280, thereby excusing it from its statutory obligations *in toto*. CP at 39-41. The Superior Court agreed that Madison failed to timely provide the statement and refund due per RCW 59.18.280, but noted that "a final full and specific statement was sent within a reasonable time after the final invoices were obtained." CP at 53. The Superior Court therefore concluded that Madison "did comply with the requirements of RCW

59.18.280," reversing and remanding the District Court's decision and dismissing Ms. Goodeill's claims. CP at 54.

The lower court's decision has deprived Ms. Goodeill of access to her deposit monies, which are essential for her to secure safe and habitable housing in a new tenancy. This decision also threatens the same adversity for literally tens of thousands of similarly situated residential tenants within the jurisdiction of the Spokane County Superior Court, and tens of thousands more within the jurisdiction of the Division III Court of Appeals.¹

Ms. Goodeill asks this Court to review the lower court's finding that Madison could not obtain contractor invoices prior to October 1, 2013, and the lower court's conclusion that this constituted "circumstances beyond the landlord's control," which excused it from its statutory obligations under RCW 59.18.280 *in toto*.

C. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

 The Superior Court's finding that Madison could not obtain contractor invoices until October 1, 2013, is not supported by substantial evidence. Evidence and testimony within the records

¹ See University of Washington, Washington Center for Real Estate Research, Washington Apartment Market Fall 2013 (2013) (also at http://wcrer.be.washington.edu) (estimating 35,922 apartment units, not including single-family dwellings, in Spokane County alone). A copy of this report is provided as Exhibit C.

and files of this case confirm that all charges accrued on or before September 11, 2013, almost three weeks prior to the date Madison claims these invoices became available. Madison presented no evidence that is could not obtain invoices until October 1, 2013; it only offered testimony that one of its contractors did not send them out until that date. A failure to request invoices does not substantiate an inability to obtain them.

- 2. As a remedial statute, a "Force Majeure" standard, rather than the "reasonableness" standard imputed by the lower court, should apply to the remedial exception in RCW 59.18.280. Courts should construe RCW 59.18, et seq., in favor of the tenants it aims to protect. A Force Majeure exception is consistent with the remedial purposes of the RLTA as well as similar exceptions in other statutory schemes.
- 3. Because remedial statutes are construed in favor of the remedies they provide, and courts construe exceptions in such statutes narrowly, the exception in RCW 59.18.280, should be narrowly construed and applied in close conformity to the statute. The exception applies only to limitations on landlords' claims and defenses under certain circumstances; it does not excuse them from their statutory obligations *in toto*.

- 4. Public policy interests support a heightened standard and close conformity to the terms of RCW 59.18.280. The RLTA establishes and maintains a careful balance between the duties and remedies afforded to landlords and tenants. RCW 59.18.280 specifically allocates the benefit of expedited deposit refunds to tenants, regardless of whether or not these are in dispute. This supports the public's interest in access to safe and habitable housing for its citizens, even as it assigns to landlords the burden of collecting amounts alleged due.
- 5. Pursuant to RCW 59.18.280, Ms. Goodeill is entitled to her costs and fees as the prevailing party in this action. Pursuant to RAP 18.1, she requests that this Court make such an award consistent with RCW 59.18.280.

D. ARGUMENT

This Court should reverse the ruling of the Superior Court and affirm the decision of the District Court below for two reasons.

First, the Superior Court's finding that Madison could not obtain contractor invoices until October 1, 2013, is not supported by substantial evidence. Higher courts typically review findings of fact for "substantial evidence" that is "sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person that the

premise is true." Rainier View Court Homeowners Ass'n, Inc. v. Zenker, 157 Wn. App. 710, 719 (2010).

Second, the Superior Court erred in concluding that "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" excused Madison from its statutory obligations and negated Ms. Goodeill's remedies under RCW 59.18.280 *in toto*. Higher courts typically review conclusions of law *de novo*. *Id*.

Ms. Goodeill addresses each of these issues, with legal authority and argument, in the sections below.

 The lower court's finding that Madison could not obtain contractor invoices until October 1, 2013, is not supported by substantial evidence.

The Superior Court below erred in finding that Madison could not obtain contactor invoices until October 1, 2013, as the court's sole basis for concluding that "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" excused Madison from its duties under RCW 59.18.280. CP at 53.

In this case, the evidence confirms that all invoiced charges accrued on or before September 11, 2013, almost three weeks before Madison claims they became available, and nearly a month before Madison finally reported them to Ms. Goodeill. CP at 29-30. The only evidence to the contrary is Madison's self-serving testimony that "if they

don't send us the bill, there's no way we can report what the bill is." CP at 30.

The evidence and testimony before the lower courts establish that the great majority of delineated charges and credits were either imposed by Madison itself, in Madison's possession, or readily available at or before the termination of Ms. Goodeill's tenancy. CP at 4-10, 12-13, 19-20, 27, 29-30; Ex. B. The record includes statements, invoices, and other evidence establishing that Madison ultimately delineated 14 charges and credits that were applied to Ms. Goodeill's deposit. Ex. B at 4-5.

Six of these delineated items were solely within Madison's purview, including Ms. Goodeill's \$800 deposit, her prepayment of \$45, three "Admn" fees, and a prorated rent charge. Ex. B at 4-5. Madison is the only entity that can provide such invoices to itself, which presumably occurs through normal bookkeeping records and procedures.

Another five of these delineated items are characterized as utility "reimb[ursements]" through August 31, 2013, three days before the termination of tenancy. Ex. B at 4-5.

Of the three remaining charges, two correspond to invoices in the record, which both pertain to work completed by the same contractor on September 11, 2013, but invoiced separately on September 18, 2013, and October 1, 2013, for unknown reasons. Ex. B at 4-5, 10, 14. In a

September 9, 2013, work order to this same contractor, Madison estimated charges of \$123.75 for the services described. Ex. B at 11-12. A week later, in its September 16, 2013, statement to Ms. Goodeill, Madison estimated charges of \$600 for these services.² Ex. B at 2.

The final delineated item is an \$89.05 charge that appears to represent an undated invoice, of a different amount, for window treatments completed on September 11, 2013. Ex. B at 13.

Even without closer scrutiny of the facts and numbers in these documents, the Superior Court's finding that Madison could not obtain all invoices until October 1, 2013, as a basis for excusing Madison from providing *any* specific statement or refund within statutory timelines is not supported by substantial evidence. CP at 53. A cursory review of these documents confirms that Madison itself was the invoicing party for nearly half of its delineated charges and credits; most of the remainder pertain to utility charge reimbursements for the month before the tenancy ended; and all of the invoiced charges accrued several weeks before Madison claims they became available.

As the landlord, Madison bears the burden of showing "that circumstances beyond the landlord's control" prevented it from providing a timely statement. RCW 59.18.280. However, Madison presented no

This figure represents the total estimates for "General House Cleaning" (\$350), "Lawn Care-Dry & Weeds" (\$150), and "Maint/Debris Removal" (\$100).

evidence that it could not obtain all invoices until October 1, 2013; it merely offered testimony that a particular contractor did not send an invoice until that date. CP at 30-31. The possibility of requesting a bill from that contractor is not considered in the record.

For these reasons, Ms. Goodeill asks this Court to rule that the Superior Court's finding in this regard is not supported by substantial evidence sufficient to excuse Madison from its statutory obligations under RCW 59.18.280.

2. As a Remedial Statute, a "Force Majeure" Standard Should Apply to the Remedial Exception in RCW 59.18.280.

As a remedial statute, courts should liberally construe the RLTA, RCW 59.18, et seq., in favor of the tenants it "aims to protect." See, e.g., Jametsky v. Rodney A., 179 Wn.2d 756, 764 (2014); Bates v. City of Richland, 112 Wn. App. 919, 939 (2002). This principle pervades both the interpretation and application of remedial provisions, including those provided in RCW 59.18.280, some of which are subject to an exception for "circumstances beyond the landlord's control." Courts narrowly construe exceptions to remedies provided in remedial statutes. Dice v. City of Montesano, 131 Wn. App. 675, 689 (2006).

The Superior Court below therefore erred by imputing a "reasonableness" standard in RCW 59.18.280 to conclude that a

"reasonable reason" from Madison, RP at 21, amounted to "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" that excused Madison from its statutory obligations under RCW 59.18.280." CP at 53-54.

a. A "Force Majeure" standard is consistent with the remedial purposes of the RLTA and analogous to similar exceptions in other statutory schemes.

Because remedial statues such as the RLTA should be construed liberally in favor of the remedies they provide, see, e.g., Naches Valley Sch. Dist. No. JT3 v. Cruzen, 54 Wn. App. 388, 399 (1989) ("remedial statute should be liberally construed to effect its purpose"), and because exceptions to remedial statutes are narrowly construed, Dice, 131 Wn. App. at 689, a Force Majeure standard is proper for determining whether "circumstances beyond a landlord's control" prevented a landlord from providing a timely deposit statement.

A "force majeure" is commonly defined as "an event or effect that can be neither anticipated nor controlled." <u>Black's Law Dictionary</u> 673 (8th ed. 2004). In contracts, a *force majeure* clause may allocate risk or excuse performance based on unforeseeable and uncontrollable acts of nature (e.g., fires, floods, etc.) or people (e.g., riots, wars, etc.). *Id.* at 674; *see also, e.g., Nat'l Union Ins. Co. v. Puget Sound Power & Light*, 94 Wn.

App. 163, 168-69 (1999) (actions within the control of a party do not excused performance under contract).

When a landlord fails to provide a timely statement or refund due to the tenant, RCW 59.18.280 provides that the landlord "shall be liable to the tenant for the full amount of the deposit." In addition to this remedy, the statute also bars the landlord from "asserting any claim or raising any defense" in a tenant's action to recover the deposit "unless the landlord shows that *circumstances beyond the landlord's control* prevented the landlord from providing the statement within the fourteen days..." RCW 59.18.280 (emphasis added). The operative language is highly analogous to the standard legal definition of "force majeure," i.e., "an event or effect that can be neither anticipated nor controlled." Black's Law Dictionary at 673. This language is also analogous to similar exceptions in other statutory schemes that define "circumstances beyond the control" of a party as "those which are immediate, unexpected, or in the nature of an emergency," or associate such circumstances with "acts of God." WAC 458–20–228(9)(a)(ii); RCW 46.93.070(2)(b). These standards are fundamentally and substantially different than the "reasonableness" standard the Superior Court below applied in this case, which undermines, rather than supports, the remedial purposes of the statute.

b. The lower court's application of a "reasonableness" standard not only disfavors the remedies provided by RCW 59.18.280, but it is also inconsistent with the terms of the statute itself.

The Superior Court below found that Madison "was prevented from sending a full and specific statement within 14 days because of circumstances beyond their [sic] control, i.e., not receiving invoices until September 18 and October 1, 2013." CP at 53. The court's finding was based on its determination that "there was a reason given" by Madison, and that "it is a reasonable reason," to find that circumstances beyond its control excused Madison from complying with the statute. RP at 21. The court ultimately found that a "final full and specific statement was sent within a reasonable time," thereby concluding that Madison "did comply with the requirements of RCW 59.18.280." CP at 54. As a result, Ms. Goodeill's remedies under the RLTA were completely negated, not necessarily by unanticipated or uncontrollable circumstances, but by the "reasonableness" of Madison's reasons for noncompliance. In fact, Madison fully anticipated that "most contractors are 30 to 40 days out sending us bills," CP at 30, yet apparently chose to do nothing about it.

The court's application of a "reasonableness" standard in this case not only disfavors the remedial purposes of the RLTA in favor of the exceptions to those remedies, but it is also inconsistent with the terms of the statute itself. Nowhere does RCW 59.18.280 state that landlords may be excused from limitations on claims and defenses based on the "reasonableness" of their reasons for noncompliance. The statute plainly states that a narrow exception applies only when "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" prevent delivery of the deposit statement. RCW 59.18.280. Where "a statute is clear on its face, its meaning [should] be derived from the language of the statute alone." Kilian v. Atkinson, 147 Wn.2d 16, 20 (2002). "Courts should assume the Legislature means exactly what it says" in a statute and apply it as written. State v. Keller, 143 Wn.2d 267, 276 (2001). Statutory construction cannot be used to read additional words into a statute. State v. Chester, 133 Wn.2d 15, 21 (1997). Based on the plain language of RCW 59.18.280, the court below erred by imputing a "reasonableness" standard to the circumstances described in the exception.

c. This Court should reject the lower court's
"reasonableness" standard in favor of a "Force Majeure"
standard.

A "Force Majeure" standard, in which "circumstances beyond the landlord's control" involve "an event or effect that can be neither anticipated nor controlled," is the proper standard for determining whether or not the remedial exception in RCW 59.18.280 applies. *See, e.g.*, Black's Law Dictionary at 673; WAC 458–20–228(9)(a)(ii); RCW 46.93.070(2)(b). Such a standard favors the remedial purposes of the RLTA, demonstrates consistency with similar exceptions in other statutory schemes, and conforms to the plain language of the statute. For these reasons, this Court should reverse the lower court's decision and adopt a Force Majeure standard for the remedial exception in RCW 59.18.280.

3. The Remedial Exception in RCW 59.18.280 Should Be

Narrowly Construed in Close Conformity with the Terms of
the Statute.

The rule that exceptions in remedial statutes be narrowly construed requires that they conform closely to the terms of the statute. *Dice*, 131 Wn. App. at 689. In the context of RCW 59.18.280, this rule limits the application of the remedial exception to specific circumstances and limitations described by the statute. RCW 59.18.280 provides that:

If the landlord fails to give such statement together with any refund due the tenant within the time limits specified above [i.e., 14 days] he or she shall be liable to the tenant for the full amount of the deposit. The landlord is also barred in any action brought by the tenant to recover the deposit from asserting any claim or raising any defense for retaining any of the deposit unless the landlord shows that circumstances beyond the landlord's control prevented the landlord from providing the statement within the fourteen days.

RCW 59.18.280 (emphasis added).

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