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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Substantial evidence supported the Superior Court's finding that 

Madison lacked control over the receipt of invoices from its contractors. 

Madison offered testimony to that effect, and two invoices for cleaning 
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and repair work on the house Ms. Goodeill rented did not arrive until 

more than 14 days after she vacated the property. 

The Superior Court correctly found that Madison complied with 

RCW 59.18.280 where it sent an estimate within 14 days of Ms. 

Goodeill's departure and sent a final, full and specific statement and 

partial refund within a reasonable time after receiving all contractors' 

invoices. The Superior Court correctly applied the exception in RCW 

59.18.280 that allows a landlord to defend against liability for the return 

ofa deposit. The exception applies where, as here, circumstances 

outside the landlord's control prevented him from providing a full and 

specific statement within 14 days of the tenant's departure. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. 	 The Superior Court correctly found that Madison's receipt of 
contractors' invoices more than 14 days after Ms. Goodeill 
vacated its premises constituted a circumstance beyond 
Madison's control that prevented Madison from sending Ms. 
Goodeill a final statement within 14 days. 

The Superior Court found, as a matter of fact, that Madison was 

prevented from sending Ms. Goodeill a full and specific statement within 

14 days because of circumstances beyond its control. Substantial 

evidence supports this finding. The standard of review is discussed 

further infra. 
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1. 	 Madison lacked control over when it received invoices 
from its contractors and, therefore, could not calculate 
a full and complete statement within 14 days of Ms. 
Goodeill's departure. 

Generally, under RCW 59.18.280, a landlord must provide the 

tenant "a full and specific statement of the basis for retaining any of the 

deposit", together with any refund due, within 14 days after the tenant 

vacates the landlord's premises? RCW 59.18.280. If the landlord fails 

to do so, he is liable to the tenant for the full amount of the deposit. 

RCW 59.18.280.4 

Despite the strict appearance of this requirement, the statute 

makes an exception in cases where the landlord cannot provide a "full 

and specific statement" within 14 days. If the tenant brings an action to 

recover the deposit, the landlord may raise defenses for retaining it if the 

landlord can show that circumstances beyond his control prevented him 

from providing the statement within 14 days. The statue provides: 

3 The relevant portion of the statute provides: 

Within fourteen days after the termination of the rental agreement and vacation 
of the premises ... the landlord shall give a full and specific statement of the 
basis for retaining any of the deposit together with the payment of any refund 
due the tenant under the terms and conditions of the rental agreement. .. .The 
landlord complies with this section if the required statement or payment, or 
both, are deposited in the United States mai I properly addressed with first-class 
postage prepaid within the fourteen days. 

RCW 59.18.280. 
4 "lfthe landlord fails to give such statement together with any refund due the tenant 
within the time limits specified above he or she shall be liable to the tenant for the full 
amount of the deposit." RCW 59.18.280. Courts also have discretion to award "up to 
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The landlord is also barred in any action brought by the tenant to 
recover the deposit from asserting any claim or raising any 
defense for retaining any of the deposit unless the landlord shows 
that circumstances beyond the landlord's control prevented the 
landlord from providing the statement within the fourteen days ... 

RCW 59.18.280. 

The Superior Court correctly found that the statutory exception 

applied in this case. Once Ms. Goodeill moved out of the house, 

Madison promptly hired contractors to do the cleaning and repair work. 

The contractors completed the work by September 11, 2013-eight days 

after Ms. Goodeill vacated the house. Ex. B., 10-14. Madison could not, 

however, provide Ms. Goodeill a final statement at that time because it 

had not yet received all invoices from its contractors. CP 31; Ex. B., 10, 

14. Madison thus did the next best thing: it provided Ms. Goodeill with 

an estimate of the work's cost on September 16,2013-13 days after she 

moved out. Ex. B. 1-2. The estimate anticipated Ms. Goodeill would 

owe an additional $100, but Madison made clear the statement was not 

final and promised a full and complete statement once it knew the precise 

cost of the work. Ex. B, 1-2. Madison promptly followed up by sending 

a final statement, together with a refund based on the precise cost of the 

cleaning and repair, on October 9, 2013-eight days after the final 

invoice is mailed to them. Ex. B, 4-6. 

two times the amount of the deposit for the intentional refusal of the landlord to give the 
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Though Madison could not precisely calculate Ms. Goodeill's 

refund within 14 days, it did so within a prompt and reasonable time as 

soon as it could. Madison raised this argument in the District Court and 

in the Superior Court on appeal. CP 31, 35-43, 47-51. The Superior 

Court determined that this placed Madison within the statute's exception 

to the 14-day rule. CP 53-54. It found Madison's receipt of invoices 

past the 14-day time limit fell beyond Madison's control and prevented it 

from providing a full and complete statement within the statutory time 

limit. CP 53. 

2. 	 Substantial evidence supported the Superior Court's 
finding that circumstances beyond Madison's control 
prevented it from sending a full and complete 
statement within 14 days. 

This Court reviews findings of fact to see whether they are 

supported by substantial evidence. Rainier View Court Homeowners 

Association, Inc. v. Zenker, 157 Wn. App. 710, 719,238 P.3d 1217, 1221 

(2010). "Substantial evidence" is "a quantum of evidence sufficient to 

persuade a fair-minded person that the premise is true". Rainier View 

Court, 157 Wn. App. at 719, 238 P.3d at 1221; see also Grange v. 

Finlay, 58 Wn.2d 528, 529, 364 P.2d 234, 235 (1961) (substantial 

evidence is evidence "which would convince an unprejudiced, thinking 

statement or refund due." RCW 59.18.280. 
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mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed,,). 5 Only 

where no competent evidence could support the finding as a matter of 

law is reversal justified. Schorzman v. Brown, 64 Wn.2d 398, 403, 391 

P.2d 987,990-91 (1964) (reversing judgment notwithstanding the verdict 

where evidence existed to allow jury's conclusion). 

The Washington Supreme Court has described "substantial 

evidence" as "more than a scintilla" of evidence and does not require 

"overwhelming" proof. Schorzman, 64 Wn.2d at 403,391 P.2d 987 at 

990. In questions of whether substantial evidence exists to support a 

factual finding, conflicting evidence counsels against reversal. 

Schorzman, 64 Wn.2d at 403,391 P.2d 987 at 990 ("since the evidence 

was conflicting upon the principal issue, we think the jury could find that 

there existed a steering defect of which appellant should have been 

warned by his employer"). 

Here, substantial evidence supported the Superior Court's 

conclusion that Madison "was prevented from sending a full and specific 

statement within 14 days because of circumstances beyond their control, 

i.e., not receiving invoices until September 18 and October 1,2013." CP 

53. Madison did not receive two invoices from contractor Davis Pro 

5 In this context, Washington courts often use "substantial evidence" and "sufficient 
evidence" interchangeably. See, e.g., Knight v. Trogdon Truck Co., 191 Wash. 646, 
653,71 P.2d 1003, 1006 (1937). 
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Cleaning and Maintenance until October 1, 20 l3. Ex. B. 10. 14.6 No 

evidence contradicts this fact, and Ms. Goodeill has never disputed it. 

While Ms. Goodeill points to other charges she claims Madison knew or 

should have known within 14 days, she never disputes that the two 

invoices from Davis Pro arrived after that time. See Ex. B, 10, 14. 

Madison explained that invoices are how it learns of contractors' 

charges, and it therefore could not have known the precise amount of 

Davis Pro's charges until it received their invoices. CP 31. Madison's 

testimony on this issue constitutes substantial evidence to support the 

Superior Court's finding. 

In addition, no evidence establishes the contrary-that Madison 

could have obtained invoices or learned the precise amount of Davis 

Pro's charges within 14 days of Ms. Goodeill vacating the house. While 

Ms. Goodeill notes that Davis Pro completed its work on September 11, 

2013, she provides no evidence that Madison could have obtained 

invoices or learned the precise cost of Davis Pro's work within the 14

day statutory period.? Even if completion of the work on September 11 

6 Madison testified that contractors often send them even later, sometimes not for 30 to 
40 days, making its receipt of all invoices within less than one month relatively prompt. 
CP31. 
7 Ms. Goodeill suggests that, since Madison's contractors completed their work within 
the statute's 14-day time limit, Madison could have calculated Ms. GoodeilJ's refund 
earlier by, for instance, requesting early invoices. BriefofPetitioner, pp. 6, 10-11. 
This Court should decline to read such a requirement into RCW 59.18.280. Imposing a 
"duty to ask" on a landlord would not guarantee timely receipt of invoices or timely 
receipt of accurate information. Even if a landlord asks its contractors send their bills 
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constituted evidence of this, the mere fact of conflicting evidence does 

not undermine the Superior Court's finding. The receipt of two invoices 

outside the 14-day time period provides substantial ground for the 

Superior Court's ruling. This Court should affirm it. 

B. 	 The Superior Court correctly found Madison complied with 
RCW 59.18.280 where Madison sent Ms. Goodeill an 
estimated statement within 14 days and a final statement and 
refund within a reasonable time after receiving all invoices 
from its contractors. 

Application of the statute in this case is a question of law. This 

Court reviews such questions de novo. Rainier View Court, 157 Wn. 

App. at 719, 238 P.3d at 122. 

1. 	 The Superior Court correctly accepted Madison's 
defense to liability and found it in compliance with 
RCW 59.18.280. 

As detailed supra, RCW 59.18.280 makes an exception to its 

requirement that a landlord provide a "full and specific" statement on a 

tenant's retained deposit within 14 days. The exception allows a 

landlord to defend against a tenant's suit to recover the deposit if, as 

here, the landlord shows that circumstances beyond his control prevented 

him from providing the statement within the required time. RCW 

59.18.280. Though the statute fails to specifY which defenses a landlord 

who falls within the exception might raise, it must permit a landlord who 

quickly, it cannot force them to do so, which would leave them in the same position as 

14 



faced circumstances beyond his control to contest liability and, if 

successful, be excused from the 14-day requirement. Read otherwise, the 

exception has no utility.8 The exception does not, however, excuse the 

landlord from providing a "full and specific" statement, nor does it 

excuse him from paying the tenant a refund if one is due. Nothing in the 

statute allows a defendant to escape those responsibilities. 

The Superior Court properly applied the exception in this case. It 

took Madison's circumstances into account and found it complied with 

the statute's requirements. After finding Madison "was prevented from 

sending a full and specific statement within 14 days because of 

circumstances beyond their control, i.e., not receiving invoices until 

September 18 and October 1,2013," the Superior Court concluded 

Madison "did comply with the requirements ofRCW 59.18.280." CP 

53-54. Madison did so by completing the cleaning and repair work 

within 14 days, sending Ms. Goodeill an estimate within that time, and 

sending a final statement and refund within a reasonable time after it 

obtained all contractors' invoices and determined the precise cost of the 

Madison in this case. 
8 Petitioner splits hairs when she argues, at length, that the statute's exception only 
allows a landlord to raise defenses and does not excuse withholding a deposit beyond 14 
days. See BriefofPetitioner, pp. 16-21. The exception only applies in cases where a 
landlord has already withheld the deposit and provides explanation of the circumstances 
"beyond his control" for doing so. RCW 59.18.280. Invoking the exception and 
offering a defense does not excuse a landlord from his obligations in toto as Petitioner 
repeatedly claims. 
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work. See CP 53. The Superior Court applied the statute's exception to 

the facts of the case and reached the appropriate conclusion. 

2. 	 Madison's efforts to comply with RCW 59.18.280 
exceeded the statute's requirements. 

Where circumstances prevent a landlord from providing a tenant 

a full and complete statement of her deposit within 14 days, RCW 

59.18.280 is silent as to precisely what a landlord must do. RCW 

59.18.280. While it does not excuse a landlord from providing the 

statement, it also does not require anything besides the "full and 

complete" statement to be sent. A landlord who cannot provide the 

required statement within 14 days, therefore, must provide it once he is 

no longer prevented from doing so. See RCW 59.18.280. Notably, the 

statute does not require an estimated statement within the 14 days where 

a "full and specific" statement cannot be sent within that time. 

As the Superior Court recognized, this case presents precisely the 

situation contemplated by the statute's exception to the 14-day rule. 

While the lack of two invoices prevented Madison from providing a "full 

and specific" statement within 14 days, Madison did more than necessary 

to comply with the statute by sending an estimated statement 13 days 

after Ms. Goodeill's departure and explaining the circumstances in the 

accompanying letter. Ex. B, 1-2. The statute does not require a landlord 

who cannot meet the 14-day requirement to send two statements, as 
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Madison did. Madison's effort to comply with the 14-day time limit 

even when it knew it could not provide a full and specific statement 

within that time underscore the propriety of the Superior Court's ruling. 

3. 	 The Superior Court did not excuse Madison from its 
statutory obligations in toto. 

Despite Madison's compliance with RCW 59.18.280 and the 

Superior Court's finding of such, Petitioner repeatedly, throughout her 

brief, claims the Superior Court excused Madison from its statutory 

duties "in toto." That is wrong. RCW 59.18.280 contains a number of 

requirements. It requires a "full and specific" statement of the basis for 

retaining any deposit, delivery of any refund due, and both within 14 

days. RCW 59.18.280. As explained supra, it provides an exception to 

that last requirement in cases where the landlord is prevented from 

providing the statement within 14 days, allowing a landlord to defend 

against liability in such cases. Id. Petitioner's insistence that the statute 

must be read narrowly to avoid excusing a landlord from his duties in 

toto is incorrect and ignores the context of the exception.9 

The Superior Court did not excuse Madison from any statutory 

requirement except the 14-day time limit. Madison still had to provide 

the "full and specific" statement about the deposit and any refund due. 

Madison did both. It also took the extra step of sending an estimate 
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within 14 days, an effort to comply as best it could with the statute. The 

Superior Court only excused Madison from the 14-day time limit upon 

finding that Madison fell within the statutory exception excusing 

landlords from that requirement. CP 53-54. Madison was always 

obligated to provide a final statement with any refund due. The Superior 

Court found Madison did so within a reasonable time after receiving all 

information it needed to provide the statement and refund. 

Petitioner's claim that the Superior Court "excused Madison from 

all of its statutory obligations and any potential liability to Ms. Goodeill 

under the statute,,10 is simply incorrect. Had Madison failed to offer 

substantial evidence for providing a final statement and refund outside 

the 14-day time limit, it would have remained liable to Ms. Goodeill. 

The Superior Court, however, found Madison's explanation of not 

receiving invoices in time satisfactory and allowed it that defense. The 

Superior Court properly applied the statute. 

4. 	 Use of a "Force Majeure" standard is not appropriate 
for applying the exception in RCW 59.18.280. 

The exception to the 14-day rule in RCW 59.18.280 applies when 

"circumstances beyond the landlord's control" prevent him from 

complying with it. RCW 59.18.280. Importantly, the statute refers only 

9 See BriefofPetitioner, pp. 16-21. 
10 BriefofPetitioner, p. 20.

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